IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MONICA JONES,

Appellant,

v.

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AS TRUSTEE FOR TBW MORTGAGE-BACKED PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2006-3,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No: 78054 Electronically Filed

Electronically Filed May 30 2019 09:46 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

Robert Kern, Esq. Nevada State Bar No.10104

KERN LAW Ltd.

601 S. 6th Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Tele: 702-518-4529

Fax: 702-825-5872

Email: Robert@Kernlawoffices.com

Admin@Kernlawoffices.com

Attorney for Appellant

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MONICA JONES,

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal arises from final order granting summary judgment, of the Eighth Judicial District Court, In and for Clark County, State of Nevada, the Honorable J. Charles Thompson, Presiding. The Order was entered on the 24th day of January, 2019, and Notice of Entry of Order was filed on the 28th day of January, 2019 (Appellant's Appendix, P. 153). Jurisdiction of this Court is based upon NRAP 3A(b)(1) as an appeal from a final order.

II.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal arises from a grant of summary judgment in an amount far exceeding \$250,000. It does not fit clearly into cases specifically assigned to the Supreme Court, nor to those assigned to the Court of Appeals. Appellant presumes that it should be assigned based on the workload of the different courts, pursuant to NRAP 17(c).

III.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

WHETHER A GRANT OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT IS APROPRIATE WHEN THE MOVING PARTY FAILED TO ESTABLISH STANDING TO ASSERT THEIR CLAIM.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case comes as an appeal from the District Court's order granting a motion for summary judgment. On May 10, 2017, U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AS TRUSTEE FOR TBW MORTGAGE-BACKED PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2006-3 (hereinafter, "U.S. Bank") filed a complaint for judicial foreclosure and for a lost note order pursuant to NRS 104.3309. Appellant Monica Jones (hereinafter, "Jones"), appearing Pro Se, timely filed a motion to dismiss in response, which was denied, and later filed a motion for more definite statement, requesting the basis upon which U.S. Bank sought standing to enforce the loan, which was also denied. On November 1, 2018, U.S. Bank filed a motion for summary judgment, and Jones filed an opposition. The motion was heard on January 15, 2019, and was granted. Jones timely appealed from that order.

V. **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The Appellant, Monica Jones ("Jones"), is the legal title-holder of the property that is the subject of this matter (the "Property"). When U.S. Bank brought this suit to foreclose, Jones, appearing Pro Se, filed a motion to dismiss in

which she alleged, among other things, that U.S. Bank did not own the note, that the lost note affidavit conflicted with the allegations in the complaint, and that U.S. Bank had no authority to enforce the note. (See MTD, Appendix p. 46). U.S. Bank opposed, and the motion to dismiss was denied. Jones then filed a motion for a more definite statement, believing that it was the appropriate method to challenge the fact that she believed U.S. Bank had not explained the basis of their authority to enforce the note. (See Mtn for More Definite Statement, Appendix p.61). U.S. Bank opposed, and that motion was denied. U.S. Bank then filed a motion for summary judgment. (See MSJ, Appendix p.70). The motion was supported by a photocopy of the note, which was made out to a different party, and contained no endorsements and no allonges, a copy of the deed of trust, made out to another party, but accompanied by an assignment of the deed of trust to U.S. Bank, and a lost note affidavit, made by Ocwen Loan servicing, with no indication of any relation between Ocwen and U.S. Bank, at a date prior to the assignment of the deed of trust to U.S. Bank. The Affidavit did not contain any language testifying that U.S. Bank or its agents had any authority to enforce the note, nor that they ever did. Jones opposed the motion for summary judgment. (See Opp to MSJ, Appendix p. 113). In her opposition, Jones referred to the arguments contained in her motion for more definite statement as a basis for her opposition. At the hearing, U.S. Bank did not provide any additional information justifying the basis of their

right to enforce the note, and did not explain how they sought to enforce a lost note with no evidence indicating they had any right to do so. (See Transcript, Appendix p. 160). The District Court granted summary judgment, and awarded costs and fees as well as deficiency judgment against Jones. (See FFCL, Appendix p. 65). This appeal followed.

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiff filed the present matter to foreclose with a lost note. The UCC requires that a party seeking to enforce a lost note be required to prove standing to enforce, by proving a transfer of the right to enforce the note. Plaintiff admitted that they do not have the note, did not provide evidence they ever had the note, nor that they were ever transferred the right to enforce the note, despite the black letter law of NRS 104.3309 requiring such proof. In the absence of a single item of evidence supporting their standing to enforce the note, the District Court granted summary judgment, over Jones' opposition. This is directly in violation of NRCP rule 56 which requires that the moving party establish their right to judgment as a matter of law. Without any showing whatsoever that U.S. Bank had standing to enforce the loan, the District Court was without subject matter jurisdiction to grant summary judgment.

VII.

ARGUMENT

I.

WHETHER A GRANT OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT IS APPROPRIATE WHEN THE MOVING PARTY FAILED TO ESTABLISH STANDING TO ASSERT THEIR CLAIM.

a. Standard of Review

An order granting a motion for summary judgment is reviewed de novo.

Pressler v. City of Reno, 118 Nev. 506, 509, 50 P.3d 1096, 1098 (2002). Issues of subject matter jurisdiction are reviewed de novo. Ogawa v. Ogawa, 125 Nev. 660, 667, 221 P.3d 699, 704 (2009). The question of whether a party has standing is a question of law reviewed de novo. Arguello v. Sunset Station, Inc., 252 P. 3d 206 (NV Sup. Ct. 2011); Citizens for Cold Springs v. City of Reno, 125 Nev. 625, 218 P.3d 847, 850-51 (NV Sup. Ct. 2009); Levine v. Vilsack, 587 F. 3d 986 (9th Cir. 2009); Ohio Ass'n of Indep. Schs. v. Goff, 92 F.3d 419, 421 (6th Cir. 1996), cert. denied, 520 U.S. 1104 (1997) (Whether a party has standing is a legal question reviewed de novo); See Thomas v. Mundell, 572 F.3d 756, 760 (9th Cir. 2009); Northwest Envtl. Def. Ctr. v. Bonneville Power Admin., 477 F.3d 668, 678 (9th Cir. 2007). As the order appealed from was a grant of summary judgment, and the

primary question revolves around subject matter jurisdiction of the district court to grant Plaintiff its requested relief, de novo review is appropriate.

As the order was a grant of summary judgment, the district court was required to "view the evidence presented through the prism of the substantive evidentiary burden" so that there must be sufficient evidence on which a jury could reasonably find for the Plaintiff. *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 254, 106 S.Ct. 2505, 2511, 91 L.Ed.2d 202, 212 (1986).; *Cottle v. Storer Communications, Inc.*, 849 F.2d 570, 575 (11th Cir. 1988). Further, all reasonable inferences must be drawn in favor of the non-moving party.

b. Foreclosure on a Lost Note Requires Proof of Standing to Foreclose.

Standing to enforce a mortgage is an essential element of any foreclosure action, but becomes more significant when the foreclosing party lacks the instrument evidencing the debt. "In essence the question of standing is whether the litigant is entitled to have the court decide the merits of the dispute or of particular issues." *Warth v. Seldin*, 422 US 490, (U.S. Supreme Court 1975). In order to ask the courts to use the power of the State to do its bidding, the Plaintiff must show that it is the party that holds the legal right it wishes to see enforced to its benefit. The Plaintiff must show that the legal rights belong to *it*, and not some other party.

Without standing, there is no right to judicial relief. *Id.* Essentially, in order to establish standing to foreclose in Nevada, the foreclosing party must show that it is the proper party to proceed against the Property. *Edelstein v. Bank of New York Mellon*, 286 P. 3d 249 (NV S.Ct. 2001). Mortgage notes in Nevada are treated as negotiable instruments, and thus any determination of standing to enforce a mortgage note is governed by Nevada's UCC Article 3. *Leyva v. National Default Servicing Corp.*, 255 P. 3d 1275, 1279 (NV S.Ct. 2001). Under Article 3's lost note section, NRS 104.3309, a party seeking to enforce a lost note must prove that they were given the right to enforce the note prior to its loss.

NRS 104.3309 Enforcement of lost, destroyed or stolen instrument.

- 1. A person not in possession of an instrument is entitled to enforce the instrument if:
 - (a) The person seeking to enforce the instrument:
- (1) Was entitled to enforce the instrument when loss of possession occurred; or
- (2) Has directly or indirectly acquired ownership of the instrument from a person who was entitled to enforce the instrument when loss of possession occurred.

If the note is not endorsed to them (as in this case), then,

[T]he party seeking to establish its right to enforce the note must account for possession of the unendorsed instrument by proving the transaction through which the transferee acquired it. In other words, because the party seeking to enforce the note cannot "prove" its right to enforce through the use of a valid endorsement, the party must "prove" by some other means that it was given possession of the note for the purpose of enforcing it. (*Leyva*, Id. at 1281) (Internal quotations and citations omitted).

Without proving that the note was transferred to them, U.S. Bank had no standing to foreclose.

c. Standing is Jurisdictional, and Can Be Raised Anytime.

In Jones' Pro Se opposition to the motion for summary judgment, she directly referenced the arguments contained in her motion for a more definite statement, as being the basis of her opposition¹. The motion for a more definite statement questions U.S. Bank's authority to foreclose, citing Leyva's statement that a foreclosing party must prove that the party foreclosing "actually owns the note..." (Motion for More Definite Statement, Appendix p. 61). Interpreting pleadings from a Pro Se litigant liberally, it is clear that the issue of U.S. Bank's standing to enforce the note was challenged.

However even if standing were not previously raised, as an element of subject matter jurisdiction, standing is an issue that can be raised at any stage of litigation, even on appeal. In Nevada, a party lacking standing divests the court of subject matter jurisdiction in the matter. *GARMONG v. LYON COUNTY BOARD*

¹ "Defendant's motion for a more definitive statement in itself establishes issues that if presented with proper evidence via discovery for example, that defeat any summary judgment application." (Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment, Appendix p. 113).

OF COMMISSIONERS, No. 74644 (Nev. May 3, 2019) ("In order for a party to have standing to seek writ relief, and thus for the district court to have subject matter jurisdiction over a petition for writ relief, the party must be "beneficially interested" in the matter."). The Honorable Judge Tao explained this well:

But whether a party has standing is a question that goes to the court's jurisdiction, and questions of jurisdiction can never be waived or stipulated away by the parties. Furthermore, they may be raised at any time, even *sua sponte* by the court for the first time on appeal. This is so because questions of jurisdiction go to whether the court has the fundamental power to grant the requested relief and enforce its own judgment. If the court has no power to grant relief—either because it lacks jurisdiction over the subject matter, an indispensable party is absent from the litigation, the dispute is moot or not yet ripe, or a party does not have the legal right to seek or receive the requested relief—then its ruling is legally void and not much more than a meaningless advisory opinion whether or not any party raised a timely objection below. (*Wallace v. Smith*, No. 70574 (Nev: Court of Appeals Mar. 5, 2018) (Tao, J, Concurring) (Internal citations omitted).

The United States Supreme Court has long observed this rule. *Arbaugh v. Y & H Corp.*, 546 US 500 (Supreme Court 2006) ("The objection that a federal court lacks subject-matter jurisdiction, see Fed. Rule Civ. Proc. 12(b)(1), may be raised by a party, or by a court on its own initiative, at any stage in the litigation, even after trial and the entry of judgment."). Although state courts are not directly bound by the case or controversy requirement of Article III (of which standing is an essential element) of the U.S. Constitution, Nevada's courts have adopted that requirement themselves. *Doe v. Bryan*, 728 P. 2d 443 (NV S.Ct. 1986) ("Nevada")

has a long history of requiring an actual justiciable controversy as a predicate to judicial relief. Moreover, litigated matters must present an existing controversy, not merely the prospect of a future problem.").

Standing is an issue of subject matter jurisdiction, and it is well-recognized that subject matter jurisdiction can be invoked at any time, thus even if Jones' arguments raised in the lower court are not treated as raising the issue of standing there, it is an issue that can be raised for the first time on appeal. Further, even if this were not an issue of subject matter jurisdiction, a grant of summary judgment for foreclosure without a note, in the absence of any evidence whatsoever of the right to enforce the note, clearly rises to the level of plain error.

d. It is Impossible to Establish Standing to Foreclose Without any Evidence of the Right to Enforce the Mortgage.

NRCP rule 56 governs motions for summary judgment, and requires that "[T]he movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." As U.S. Bank provided no evidence whatsoever of its standing to enforce the note, the District Court had no authority to grant summary judgment.²

² Further, as the affidavit was from a company unrelated to Plaintiff, and predated the date Plaintiff claimed to have acquired the loan, it was incapable of

By filing a lost note affidavit with the Complaint, U.S. Bank admitted that it does not possess the note. (See Complaint, Appendix p. 9). Further, the copy of a note that U.S. Bank attached to both the Complaint and the Motion for Summary Judgment show the note made out to a party that is not U.S. Bank, and that it is not endorsed in any way³. (See Complaint, Appendix p. 10). As stated above, a note is an Article 3 negotiable instrument. UCC Article 3 requires that U.S. Bank may only enforce it if it was originally made out to them (it was not), if it was endorsed to them (the copy of the note indicates that it wasn't), if it was endorsed in blank, and they had possession (again, the copy of the note shows no endorsements whatsoever), or if they can provide proof it was transferred to them in some other way. As the face of the note makes clear, the last option is the only one available for U.S. Bank. "Without holder status and the attendant presumption of a right to enforce, the possessor of the note must demonstrate both the fact of the delivery and the purpose of the delivery of the note to the transferee in order to qualify as the "person entitled to enforce." In re Veal, 450 B.R. 897, 912 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. June 10, 2011) (holding, in a bankruptcy case, that AHMSI did not prove that it

establishing the Plaintiff owned the note, as it could not testify to events that would have occurred after the date of the affidavit.

³ Also worth noting is that the stamp at the top of the note indicates that this is not a copy originating from the lender, but rather a copy the lender had to acquire from the title company.

was the party entitled to enforce, and receive payments from, a mortgage note because it "presented no evidence as to who possessed the original Note. It also presented no evidence showing [e]ndorsement of the note either in its favor or in favor of Wells Fargo, for whom AHMSI allegedly was servicing the [bankrupt party's] Loan.").

In the present case, U.S. Bank's only evidence in support of its right to enforce the mortgage were, a copy of a note made out to a different party, the deed of trust, also made out to a different party, an assignment of the deed of trust to U.S. Bank, and a lost note affidavit.

As discussed previously, a note with no endorsements, made out to a different party is more evidence against U.S. Bank's right to enforce, than it is evidence for a right to enforce. The assignment of the deed of trust is generally sufficient evidence of transfer of the deed of trust, however, as explained in *Edelstein*, a mortgage can not be enforced unless a party has both the note and the deed of trust. *Edelstein v. Bank of New York Mellon*, 286 P. 3d 249, 260 (NV S.Ct. 2012). Further, it held that a deed of trust that names MERS as nominee splits the note and deed of trust at inception. (Id. at 260). As the deed of trust in this case does contain such language, (See DOT, Appendix p. 14) this means that evidence of the transfer to U.S. Bank of the deed of trust is meaningless towards establishing

the right to enforce the note. This leaves the lost note affidavit as the sole basis for U.S. Bank to prove their right to enforce the note.

While an affidavit is generally sufficient evidence on a motion for summary judgment, the lost note affidavit fails because it does not contain any language indicating that U.S. Bank has the right to enforce the note. As per UCC Article 3, the affidavit would be required to clearly testify, by citing admissible evidence, that Plaintiff U.S. Bank was transferred the right to enforce the note by a party who themselves had the right to enforce the note. Paraphrasing the contents of the affidavit, it states: 1 – that the affiant as an agent of Ocwen loan servicing, 2 – that Ocwen is the servicer on the loan, 3 – that the information in the affidavit comes from Ocwen's business records, 4 – that Ocwen made a good faith search for the note, and failed to locate it, and 5 – that the loss was not due to transfer or satisfaction. Nowhere does the affidavit contain language indicating that U.S. Bank was ever transferred ownership of the note, or rights to enforce the note, nor any allegation whatsoever that could be interpreted as testimony that satisfies U.S. Bank's burden to prove their right to enforce the instrument as required by NRS 104.3309.

There was literally zero evidence presented to establish U.S. Bank's standing to enforce the note. None. On a judicial foreclosure, especially one with a

lost note, this is the central issue of the matter. Without providing evidence sufficient to satisfy the UCC that there was a transfer of the right to enforce the note, U.S. Bank cannot foreclose, and cannot get a lost note order. Further, this was summary judgment, meaning that any question as to sufficiency of evidence on a question of fact was required to be resolved in favor of the non-moving party. The District Court's grant of summary judgment, when there was no evidence whatsoever presented towards the most essential burden of proof, was plain error. Further, as U.S. Bank was unable to establish their standing to enforce the mortgage, the District Court was without subject matter jurisdiction to grant relief of any sort to U.S. Bank.

The District Court's order must be reversed.

///

///

111

111

VIII.

CONCLUSION

On a motion for summary judgment, Plaintiff U.S. Bank sought to foreclose on a mortgage, with a lost note, with no evidence of their standing to enforce the note whatsoever. As NRCP rule 56 requires the moving party to prove their right to recovery, granting of summary judgment with no evidence of standing to enforce the mortgage note was plain error, and must be reversed.

Respectably Submitted this 30th day of May, 2019.

KERN LAW Ltd.