IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

MONICA JONES,

Appellant,

VS.

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AS TRUSTEE FOR TBW MORTGAGE-BACKED PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATE, SERIES 2006-3,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 78054

District Court Case N Flectronically Filed Jun 28 2019 02:20 p.m.

A-17-755267-C Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Dana Jonathon Nitz, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 0050
Amy J. Smith, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 14954
WRIGHT, FINLAY & ZAK, LLP
7785 W. Sahara Avenue, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89117
Tel: 702-475-7964
dnitz@wrightlegal.net
asmith@wrightlegal.net

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

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Signing of the Deed of Trust and the Note

On or about April 21, 2006, Jones executed a Note secured by a Deed of Trust on the Property for a loan currently in favor of the Beneficiary. JA10-13; 79-82. The Note signed by Jones stated, "I understand that the Lender may transfer the Note." JA79. Further, the Note stated, "[t]he Lender or anyone who takes this

Note by transfer and who is entitled to receive payments under this Note is called the 'Note Holder.'" *Id.* On April 28, 2006, the Deed of Trust was recorded in the official records of Clark County Recorder's Office as document number 2006428-0002827. JA14-28; 83-97.

B. Ocwen's Interest in the Note

Ocwen is now, and at all relevant times in this action was, the servicer for the Loan –namely, the Note and Deed of Trust. JA10-28; 79-97. On April 6, 2016, Ocwen executed an Affidavit of Lost Note ("Affidavit"). JA78. The Affidavit shows that Ocwen was the authorized loan servicer, Ocwen kept a record of the payments on the loan, Ocwen attempted without success to locate the Note, and the Note had not been satisfied. *Id*.

The Affidavit states that Ocwen is the authorized servicing agent for the loan secured by the Note executed on April 21, 2006 by Monica Jones and the Original Lender, Taylor Bean & Whitaker Mortgage Corp, as contained in Ocwen's records. *Id.* Second, the Affidavit states Ocwen recorded all transactions relating to the loan at or near the time of those transactions. Ocwen kept a record of the payments on the loan, *Id.* Third, the Affidavit states Ocwen could not locate the Original Note, even though Ocwen "made a good faith, diligent search and inquire to locate the original Note." *Id.* Finally, the Affidavit states, to the best of Ocwen's

representative's knowledge, the Note had not been "satisfied, pledged, assigned, transferred, lawfully seized, or hypothecated." *Id*.

Although Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. ("MERS") transferred the beneficial interest from the original Lender Taylor Bean & Whitaker to Beneficiary, on March 29, 2017, Ocwen continually serviced the loan secured by the Note, before and after⁴ the Deed of Trust was assigned by MERS to Beneficiary.

C. Beneficiary's Interest in the Note

On March 29, 2017, a Corporate Assignment was recorded in the official records of the Clark County Recorder's Office as document number 20170329-0000813. JA29-32; 98-101. The Corporate Assignment assigned the beneficial interest under the Note and the Deed of Trust securing its performance to the Beneficiary. *Id.* Beneficiary is now, and at all times relevant to this action was, the beneficial interest holder under the Deed of Trust. *Id.* Jones defaulted under the terms of the Note and the Deed of Trust. *JA*105-112.

_

⁴ The Corporate Assignment of the Deed of Trust reflects that the Assignee U.S. Bank, National Association is "care of Ocwen" and the recording was requested by Ocwen with directions to return the recording to Ocwen. JA29. And the Affidavit of Lost Note shows Ocwen is still servicing as of April 6, 2016, the date of execution. JA77-78.

D. <u>Default and Judicial Foreclosures</u>

On March 1, 2009, the default began, because Jones failed to make the monthly payments. JA105. On June 6, 2016, Ocwen, as servicer of the loan, sent a Demand letter to Jones. JA105-112. On May 10, 2017, Beneficiary filed a complaint for judicial foreclosure. JA01-07.

E. <u>Jones's Acknowledged She Has not Paid on the Loan for over 10 years.</u>

During the January 15, 2019 hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment, Jones stated she has been living in the home without paying the mortgage since 2009 because she cannot determine who "to give the house back to" in the following exchange with the court:

THE COURT: Are you still in the home?

MS. JONES: Yes.

THE COURT: You've been there – how long you been there without paying the mortgage?

MS. JONES: Well, my lender, Taylor, Bean & Whitaker –

THE COURT: How long have you been there without paying a mortgage?

MS. JONES: -- in 2009 --

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. JONES: -- is when they --

THE COURT: That's ten years you've been living for free.

MS. JONES: I've been looking for, where's my note for ten years.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. JONES: Who do I give the house back to? And nobody showed up. This is the fourth law firm.

JA161-162.

F. <u>Procedural History</u>

On May 10, 2017, Beneficiary filed a complaint for judicial foreclosure. JA1-45. The causes of action in the complaint were (1) Reestablishing Lost Note; (2) Judicial Foreclosure; and (3) Deficiency Judgment on Deed of Trust. JA3-6. Jones filed a Motion to Dismiss (JA48-51) and a Motion for More Definitive (sic) Statement (JA61-66); and the court denied the Motion to Dismiss. JA65-66. Jones never filed an answer. JA161.

On November 1, 2018, Beneficiary filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (JA70-154); and, following briefing, the district court granted Beneficiary's Motion, on January 24, 2019. JA155-158. Notice of Entry was filed and served January 28, 2019. JA153-154. This appeal followed by timely Notice of Appeal filed January 26, 2019. JA125.

VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"This [C]ourt reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo." *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (Nev. 2005).

A motion for summary judgment should be granted "when the pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate that no 'genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Id.*; NRCP 56(c).

Once the moving party has met its burden, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of the adverse party's pleadings, but the adverse party's response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts demonstrating the existence of a genuine issue for trial. Nev.R.Civ.P.56(e). When this rule speaks of a "genuine" issue of material fact, it does so with the adversary system in mind. The word "genuine" has moral overtones; it does not mean a fabricated issue. Aldabe v. Adams, 81 Nev. 280, 402 P.2d 34 (1965). In addition, the adverse party must come forward with documentation admissible in evidence in the form of specific facts to show the existence of a genuine issue of material fact; otherwise the court is required to enter judgment according to the law. Nev.R.Civ.P.56(e); Posadas v. City of Reno, 109 Nev. 448, 452 (1991). Conclusory statements along with general allegations do not create an issue of material fact. *Michaels v. Sudeck*, 107 Nev. 332 (1991). Not only must the party opposing the motion set forth specific evidence, that evidence must be admissible as well. *Posadas v. City of Reno*, 109 Nev. 448, 452 (1991). The opposing party is not entitled to build a case on the gossamer threads of whimsy, speculation and conjecture. Collins v. Union Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 99 Nev. 284, 662 P.2d 610 (1983).

VII. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

The district court correctly held that Beneficiary possesses the right to enforce the Note and foreclose on the Property. The district court correctly concluded that under Nevada law, the beneficiary under the deed of trust has the right to enforce the initial interest note. *See e.g.*, *Edelstein v. Bank of New York Mellon*, 128 Nev. 505, 286 P. 3d 249 (2012). And Beneficiary met all of the requirements to satisfy NRS 104.3309(1), "Enforcement of lost, destroyed or stolen instrument," which provides:

- 1. A person not in possession of an instrument is entitled to enforce the instrument if:
 - (a) The person seeking to enforce the instrument:
 - (1) Was entitled to enforce the instrument when loss of possession occurred; or
 - (2) Has directly or indirectly acquired ownership of the instrument from a person who was entitled to enforce the instrument when loss of possession occurred;
 - (b) The loss of possession was not the result of a transfer by the person or a lawful seizure; and
 - (c) The person cannot reasonably obtain possession of the instrument because the instrument was destroyed, its whereabouts cannot be determined, or it is in the wrongful possession of an unknown person or a person that cannot be found or is not amenable to service of process.

The evidence Beneficiary submitted with its motion for summary judgment—the Assignment of the Deed of Trust and Ocwen's Affidavit of Lost Note for the beneficiary—sufficed to establish that Beneficiary has the right to enforce the Note and foreclose on the Property. This Court should affirm.

VIII. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

This Court, the federal district court for the District of Nevada, and the Ninth Circuit have all rejected the arguments that a lender cannot foreclose because the note is split from the deed of trust, that the note is extinguished by not being produced, and that the beneficiary under a lost note is a "sham beneficiary." *Meiri v. Hayashi*, 2018 WL 4700735 (Unpublished) (Nev. Sept. 28, 2018); *In re Nordeen*, 489 B.R. 203 (D. Nev. 2013); *Zadrozny v. Bank of New York Mellon*, 720 F.3d 1163 (9th Cir. 2013). In light of this authority, Jones's arguments attempting to avoid foreclosure lack merit.

A. <u>Jones Waived Any Claim of Lack of Standing, Because She Failed to Raise Lack of Standing in the District Court</u>

Jones did not raise any issue of standing in the district court. Jones erroneously cites to Unpublished Nevada Court of Appeal decisions for the proposition that this Court may consider the issue of Standing – for the first time – on appeal. Further, Jones incorrectly states that the issue of standing is not waivable. To support this position, Jones tries to convince the court that lack of standing is a jurisdictional defense. However, a complete reading of the only citable case Jones used for this proposition shows that an issue of standing to bring a claim is <u>not</u> a jurisdictional issue.

B. <u>Jones Did NOT Raise the Issue of Standing in the District Court</u>

Without any legal or factual basis, Jones represented to this Court that the issue of standing was raised in the district court. Jones tries to represent she raised the issue of standing in her Motion for More Definitive (sic) statement.⁵ The Opening Brief, at p. 7, argues "The motion for a more definite (sic) statement questions U.S. Bank's authority to foreclose, citing Leyva's statement that a foreclosing party must prove that the party foreclosing 'actually owns the note...'" (JA62) as an attempt to demonstrate standing was raised below. The attempt must fail, for nowhere in the Motion is the word "standing" used. The phrase "actually owns the note" is actually just a part of a bigger quote from Levva v. National Default Servicing Corp., App. No. 55216, Appeal from the Clark Co. District Court, A-10-600-651, 127 ____, ___ P.3d ____ (Adv. Op. No. 40, July 7, 2011), and no argument follows from the bare citation⁶. In the Motion, Jones prayed for an order directing U.S. Bank to provide a "true and correct copy of the Assignment,"

_

⁵ Jones's "Motion for More Definitive Statement" was not even considered by the district court. Jones had already filed a Motion to Dismiss. At that point, once the Motion to Dismiss was denied, an Answer to the Complaint should have been filed. *See* N.R.C.P. 12(e) ("The motion [for more definite statement] must be made before filing a responsive pleading...."). The Motion for More Definitive Statement was therefore a fugitive document and not properly considered by the district court – or this Court.

⁶ EDCR 2.20(i) ("A memorandum of points and authorities which consists of bare citations to statutes, rules, or case authority does not comply with this rule and the court may decline to consider it.").

"showing when and how [U.S. Bank] thinks it acquired an interest in the Note." It is undisputed that Beneficiary produced the Deed of Trust, the Assignment of the Deed of Trust, a copy of the Note, and Ocwen's Affidavit of Lost Note. Beneficiary did, in fact, produce the Assignment of the Deed of Trust. JA029-32; JA098-101. While the original Note was not produced, a copy was and Beneficiary did produce an Affidavit of Lost Note from its servicer Ocwen. JA009; JA078. U.S. Bank did produce, without court order, the Assignment which was the "assignment," and the Assignment showed how U.S. Bank acquired its interest in the Note. Jones never argued these were insufficient so she never raised the issue of standing below, and therefore did not preserve the issue for appeal. Thus, Jones cannot raise an issue of standing to bring a claim for the first time in her Opening Brief.

C. An Issue Not Raised in the District Court is Waived on Appeal

"A point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal." *Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981).

This Court has held that it will not consider arguments regarding who owns a loan where the issues of ownership were not raised below. *Nevada New Builds*, *LLC v. Nationstar Mortgage*, *LLC*, 2019 WL 1245616 (Unpublished) (Nev. March 15, 2019) (holding, "[a]lthough appellant raises an array of arguments on appeal

regarding whether Fannie Mae truly owned the subject loan and whether evidence of that ownership needed to be publicly recorded, we decline to consider those arguments because they were not raised below").

Here, Jones weakly attempts to convince this Court that the issue of standing was raised in the district court. Jones stated that "it is clear that the issue of U.S. Bank's standing to enforce the note was challenged." Opening Brief, p. 7. What is actually "clear" - and factually accurate - is Jones never used the word "standing" in any of her written pleadings or papers or oral arguments in the district court. See JA1-165. Jones just argues that because the original Note could not be produced that no one could foreclose on the Property. *Id.* Consequently, this standing argument is waived. See Schuck v. Signature Flight Support of Nev., Inc., 126 Nev. 434, 436, 245 P.3d 542, 544 (2010) ("[A] de novo standard of review does not trump the general rule that [a] point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal.") (second alteration in original) (quoting Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981)). Jones cannot raise the issue of standing on appeal, because the issue of standing was not raised in the district court.

Even if she had preserved the issue, Summary Judgment was properly granted because standing is sufficiently demonstrated by the publically recorded

documents which show Beneficiary, U.S. Bank, is the beneficiary of record under the Deed of Trust and thus had standing to enforce the Note and Deed of Trust and foreclose.

D. The Unpublished Nevada Court of Appeal Decisions Should note be Considered by this Court Because These Decisions Cannot be Cited for Any Purpose

Since Jones did not raise the issue of standing in the district court, she is attempting to raise the issue of standing – for the first time – on appeal. In her effort, in the Opening Brief, at p. 8, she improperly cites an unpublished order of the Court of Appeals. Jones ignores NRAP 36(c) and cites two cases which cannot be cited "for any purpose" to support her position that she can raise an issue of lack of standing to bring a claim for the first time on appeal. She cites *Garmong v. Lyon County Board of Commissioners*, No. 74644 (Nev. May 3, 2019), which in turn cites *Wallace v. Smith*, No. 70574 (Nev. Court of Appeals Mar. 5, 2018) – neither of which are published.

The tops of every unpublished Nevada Court of Appeals case have a warning that NRAP 36(c) should be reviewed prior to citing the case. Pursuant to NRAP 36(c)(3), "unpublished dispositions issued by the Court of Appeals may not be cited in any Nevada court for any purpose. (Emphasis added.)" Here, Jones cited to two unpublished cases from the Nevada Court of Appeals. Jones relies on sources which cannot be cited in an attempt to convince the Court that she

can bring issues which she did not bring in the district court. Since these two cases should not be cited to "for any purpose," these cases should not be considered by this Court. Nonetheless, even if the issue were properly considered on this appeal, U.S. Bank has demonstrated its standing to enforce the Note and Deed of Trust and foreclose. Summary Judgment was appropriately granted and should be affirmed.

E. Any Standing Argument is Waived, Because Jones's Standing Argument Does not Raise an Issue of Lack of Subject matter Jurisdiction

Interestingly, the case Jones cites for the proposition that standing is a jurisdictional challenge that can be raised at any time actually determined that in that case there was no valid jurisdictional challenge which could be raised for the first time on appeal. Rather, the court determined that the standing issue raised actually challenged the merits of the case and the plaintiff's ability to prove the elements of the claim, not whether the plaintiff could bring the claim in the first instance. Jones cites *Arbaugh v. Y & H Corp.*, 546 U.S. 500 (2006), as follows:

"The United States Supreme Court has long observed this rule. *Arbaugh v. Y & H Corp.*, 546 U.S. 500 (Supreme Court 2006) ('The objection that a federal court lacks subject-matter jurisdiction, see Federal Rule Civ. Proc. 12(b)(1), may be raised by a party, or by a court on its own intuitive, at any stage in the litigation, even after trial and the entry of judgment.')."

Opening Brief, p. 8. The rest of that paragraph in *Arbaugh* states:

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